CREATE / RETAIN / REALISE

UK AUTUMN BUDGET OCTOBER 2024

AABSOLUTELY DEDICATED TO HELPING YOUR GOALS.



CONTENTS

| Significant points | 3 |
|--|---|
| CAPITAL GAINS TAX | 4 |
| Rates and annual exempt amount | 4 |
| Business Asset Disposal Relief (BADR) | 4 |
| INHERITANCE TAX | 4 |
| Reliefs | 4 |
| Pension savings | 5 |
| Rates | 5 |
| FOREIGN DOMICILED INDIVIDUALS | 5 |
| Abolition of remittance basis | 5 |
| New basis of taxation | 5 |
| CGT rebasing | 6 |
| Other aspects | 6 |
| NATIONAL INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS (NIC) | 6 |
| Thresholds and rates (Table D) | 6 |
| Employment Allowance (EA) | 6 |
| Class 2 NIC | 6 |
| EMPLOYEES | 1 |
| Company cars (Table C) | 7 |
| Double cab pick-ups | 7 |
| PERSONAL INCOME TAX | 1 |
| Tax rates and allowances – 2025/26 (Table A) | 7 |
| High-Income Child Benefit Charge (HICBC) | 8 |
| Scottish and Welsh rates – 2025/26 (Table A) | 8 |
| Dividend income | 8 |
| Savings income | 9 |
| SAVINGS AND PENSIONS | 9 |
| Individual Savings Accounts (ISA) | |
| Pension contributions (Table B) | 9 |



| CORPORATION TAX | 9 |
|---|----|
| Rate of tax | |
| Capital allowances for plant and machinery | |
| VALUE ADDED TAX | 10 |
| Registration threshold | 10 |
| Private school fees | |
| Private hire vehicles | 10 |
| PROPERTY TAXATION | 10 |
| Higher Rates on Additional Dwellings (HRAD) | 10 |
| Rate of SDLT | 11 |
| Annual Tax on Enveloped Dwellings (ATED) | 11 |
| Furnished holiday lettings (FHL) | 11 |
| OTHER MEASURES | 11 |
| Making Tax Digital for Income Tax Self-Assessment (MTD) | 11 |
| Compliance and debt management | |
| Umbrella companies | 12 |
| Fuel duty | 12 |
| National Living Wage (NLW) | 12 |
| Interest on late paid tax | |
| INCOME TAX RATES AND ALLOWANCES | 13 |
| Income Tax Rates and Allowances (Table A) | |
| High Income Child Benefit Charge (HICBC) | |
| Registered Pensions (Table B) | |
| Car and Fuel Benefits (Table C) | 14 |
| Car Fuel | |
| | |
| NATIONAL INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS | |
| National Insurance Contributions 2025/26 (Table D) | |
| Class 2 (Self-employed) | |
| Class 3 (Voluntary) | |
| Class 4 (Self-employed) | 16 |



The Autumn Budget 2024 was the first delivered by a Labour Chancellor since 2010, and the first ever delivered by a woman. Some things did not change: the objective of all Chancellors is to build a better Britain, to encourage growth, to support the NHS. The objectives Rachel Reeves laid out would not have seemed out of place in any of her predecessors' speeches.

In July, Labour announced that there was a huge undeclared 'black hole' in the public finances that would have to be filled. In the weeks leading up to the Budget, there was constant speculation about how Ms. Reeves would raise the tax her rebuilding plans would require.

In the event, some of the fears proved unfounded but there were immediate rises in the rates of Capital Gains Tax, confirmation of the VAT charge on private school fees, and abolition of most of the tax advantages of being a 'non-dom'.

However; of significant concern to many business owners and farmers were the substantial changes announced to Inheritance Tax (IHT) Agricultural Property Relief and Business Relief which are due to come into effect in April 2026.

In addition, a substantial increase in Employers' National Insurance Contributions (NIC) will come into effect from 6 April 2025. The increase is both the rate of NIC and a reduction in the threshold from when it applies.

There was, as always, a huge amount of information in the documents that are released on the internet the moment the Chancellor sits down. It is also possible to miss the impact of changes that were announced earlier, and which are only now coming into effect. In this document, we have summarised the latest proposals and their impact we have also included reminders of some of those earlier announcements. If you would like to discuss what it all means for you, we will be happy to help.

Significant points

- Increase in Capital Gains Tax rates from 30 October 2024
- IHT agricultural and business property reliefs restricted from April 2026
- Major changes to taxation of 'non-doms' from April 2025
- Substantial increases in Employers' National Insurance Contributions from 6 April 2025
- Stamp Duty Land Tax surcharge for buying additional dwellings increased from 31 October 2024
- Confirmation that VAT will apply to private school fees from January 2025
- Personal tax rates and allowances on income continue to be frozen at current levels no increases until 2028/29
- No changes to income tax reliefs on pension schemes



CAPITAL GAINS TAX

Rates and annual exempt amount

It was widely anticipated that there would be significant rises in rates, perhaps even bringing them up to income tax levels. In the event, a number of changes were announced, but they did not go that far. From 30 October 2024, the main CGT rate for all assets is now 24% (other than receipts of carried interest, which remains at 28%). This 24% rate previously only applied to residential property that was not exempted under principal private residence (PPR) relief. Where the gain can be matched against the taxpayer's basic rate band, the rate is now 18% for all assets. Previously it was 10%, except for residential property and receipts of carried interest.

From the same date, the CGT rate payable by trustees and personal representatives increases from 20% to 24%.

From 2025/26, the rate of CGT on carried interest will increase to a flat rate of 32% for individuals, estates and trusts. From 2026/27, carried interest will be brought within income tax, subject to a multiplier of 72.5% in some cases.

The CGT annual exempt amount remains £3,000 for individuals and estates and £1,500 for most trusts.

Business Asset Disposal Relief (BADR)

The lifetime limit for qualifying gains, which attract a 10% tax rate, remains £1 million. However, for 2025/26, the BADR rate will rise to 14% and, in 2026/27, it will become 18%.

Another relief, Investors' Relief, can also give a 10% tax rate to qualifying investors in qualifying companies for which they do not work. The lifetime limit is cut from £10 million to £1 million from 30 October 2024 and the rate of tax will rise in line with BADR.

There are anti-forestalling rules that may prevent taxpayers benefitting from the previous lower rates, where contracts are entered before the dates of change and do not complete until afterwards.

INHERITANCE TAX

Reliefs

The Chancellor announced two significant changes to apply from 6 April 2026.

Agricultural Property Relief and Business Relief can, at present, provide a 100% deduction from the value of qualifying assets. From 6 April 2026, this will only apply to the first £1 million of total value of agricultural and business property in an estate. Above that value, the relief will be restricted to 50%.

Shares quoted on certain markets of recognised stock exchanges, such as AIM, have been eligible for 100% relief once they have been owned for two years (provided the company is a qualifying trading business). This relief will be restricted to 50% for any such shares, regardless of total value, from 6 April 2026.

Meanwhile, from 6 April 2025, Agricultural Property Relief will be extended to land managed under an environmental agreement with, or on behalf of, the UK government or other approved responsible bodies.



Please get in touch if you want to discuss how these changes impact your IHT planning.

Pension savings

The Chancellor has announced that the ability to leave a pension fund free of IHT on death will change from 6 April 2027: unused pension funds and death benefits payable from a pension into a person's estate will become chargeable, restoring the position before the 2015 pension reforms.

As with the changes to the reliefs noted above, this change may be significant in terms of your IHT planning so please get in touch if you want to discuss the impact of this with us.

Rates

The IHT nil rate band has been fixed at £325,000 since 6 April 2009. The Chancellor extended the freeze on this figure for two further years until the end of 2029/30. Holding the threshold at the same amount for 21 years from 2009 to 2030 will bring far more people into the scope of the tax. However, the £175,000 'residential nil rate band enhancement' on death transfers can reduce the impact where it applies.

A married couple may be able to leave up to £1 million free of IHT to their direct descendants (£325,000 plus £175,000 from each parent), but the rules are complicated, and the prospect of the nil rate band being fixed for another 5 years increases the importance of proper IHT planning.

FOREIGN DOMICILED INDIVIDUALS

The Chancellor is taking forward (with some modifications) the principal changes outlined by Jeremy Hunt in the March 2024 Budget. These changes are complex and can only be briefly summarised here; anyone who is or may be affected by them should take detailed advice.

Abolition of remittance basis

The Chancellor confirmed that, from 6 April 2025, those who are resident in the UK but domiciled overseas (broadly, those whose natural or permanent home is outside the UK) will no longer have access to the 'remittance basis' of taxation, which up to now has allowed them to elect to not be taxed in the UK on foreign income and gains if they leave the money overseas.

New basis of taxation

The new regime will be known as the FIG (foreign income and gains) regime. UK residents will be taxable on their worldwide income and gains, regardless of whether they are remitted to the UK. However, new arrivals will not be taxed on foreign income and gains for their first 4 years of residence, if they have not been UK resident in the previous 10 years.

There are transitional rules to deal with people who were taxed on the remittance basis before 6 April 2025 who have unremitted income and gains, and the removal of some of the protection from tax that has been available using certain types of trust. For the first three years of the new rules, a reduced rate will apply to people bringing previously unremitted income and gains to the UK – they will pay tax, but they will then have free access to the money.



CGT rebasing

As a transitional provision, those who have claimed remittance basis in the past will, for CGT purposes, be able to rebase the CGT cost of any foreign assets that they held on 5 April 2017 to their value at that date. In some cases, this will significantly reduce the CGT liability on a disposal from 2025/26 onwards.

Other aspects

There are also significant changes to the assets that will be within the charge to IHT for those previously regarded as foreign domiciled, and to Overseas Workday Relief that can exempt them from UK tax on earnings derived from non-UK duties.

NATIONAL INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS (NIC)

Thresholds and rates (Table D)

In his 2023 Autumn Statement, Jeremy Hunt announced a reduction in the main rate of Employees' Class 1 NIC from 12% to 10% to take effect from 6 January 2024; in the Spring Budget he cut the rate further to 8% with effect from 6 April 2024. These were very substantial tax cuts, which the Labour manifesto promised not to reverse: there would be no increase in the rates of income tax, NIC or VAT 'for working people'.

Not surprisingly, then, there has been a great deal of argument about a significant increase in Employers' NIC (ERNIC). The Chancellor insists that this is a tax paid by employers which does not appear on the worker's payslip; however, it increases the cost of employing people, so there is undoubtedly an indirect effect on the employee. If ERNIC were lower, the employer might be able to employ more people or pay higher salaries.

The increases from 6 April 2025 are twofold: the rate of ERNIC will rise from 13.8% to 15%, and the Secondary Threshold – the level of pay above which ERNIC applies – will fall from £9,100 to £5,000. The amount of additional tax raised is estimated at between £23.7 and £25.7 billion pounds in each year from 2025/26 to 2029/30. The measure adds about £5 billion each year to the government's own costs of employing civil servants.

Whether or not this is an increase in tax on working people, it will increase the temptation for businesses to seek to contract with self-employed people rather than employees. The rules on 'disguised employment' (commonly known as IR35) have been the subject of many HMRC investigations and court cases, and this is likely to increase their relevance.

Employment Allowance (EA)

EA allows businesses with Class 1 ERNIC of £100,000 or less in the previous tax year to deduct £5,000 from their Class 1 ERNIC bill (as long as there is more than one employee earning above the secondary threshold). This allowance will be increased to £10,500 and the £100,000 cap is removed with effect from 6 April 2025.

Class 2 NIC

Self-employed people have for many years had to pay flat rate Class 2 NIC, which have conferred entitlement to State pension, as well as profit-related Class 4 NIC. From 6 April 2024, Class 2 NIC are not



required to secure benefits for anyone earning above the small profits threshold, which will rise in 2025/26 from £6,725 to £6,845. Anyone earning less than that can still pay Class 2 voluntarily (£182 in 2025/26) in order to maintain a full contribution record.

EMPLOYEES

Company cars (Table C)

The basis for taxing company cars and fuel provided for private use is set out in the Table. Annual increases in the rates for use of the car had been set up to 2027/28, and a further two years have been added (to 2029/30) 'to provide long-term certainty for taxpayers and industry'. The rates will continue to provide a strong incentive to use electric vehicles, while rates for hybrids will be increased to align more closely with the rates for internal combustion engine vehicles.

The figure used to calculate the benefit of free use of business fuel for private journeys increases with inflation from £27,800 to £28,200.

The taxable amounts for the availability of a van for more than incidental private use, and for an employee's private use of fuel in a company van, increase in line with inflation: the van benefit will rise in 2025/26 from £3,960 to £4,020, and the fuel benefit will rise from £757 to £769.

Double cab pick-ups

Commercial vehicles are treated more favourably than cars for employees who drive them and their employers. Following a Court of Appeal judgement, the government will treat double cab pick-up vehicles with a payload of one tonne or more as cars for the purposes of employees' taxable benefits and employers' capital allowances.

The new treatment will apply to vehicles purchased on or after 1 April 2025 (for corporation tax) or 6 April 2025 (for income tax). The existing capital allowance rules will apply to vehicles purchased before those dates; the existing benefit in kind rules will apply to employers that have purchased, ordered or leased a vehicle of this type before those dates until the earliest of disposal, lease expiry or 5 April 2029.

PERSONAL INCOME TAX

Tax rates and allowances - 2025/26 (Table A)

In 2023, the previous Chancellor announced that the main personal allowance and the 40% threshold will remain at their 2022/23 levels until the end of 2027/28. This has been widely criticised as a 'stealth tax', in that it increases the tax collected without apparently increasing rates or reducing allowances. For example, a person with a salary of £50,270 will pay £7,540 in income tax in 2024/25; if their income increases by 10% to £55,297 in any of the years to 2027/28, all of the increase will be taxed at 40%, and they will pay £9,551.

The income level above which the personal allowance is tapered away also remains £100,000; it will be reduced to zero when income is £125,140, which is also the threshold for paying 45% tax. In the tapering band, the loss of tax-free allowance creates an effective marginal rate of 60%. Once again, annual increases in income will bring more people into these higher rates.



It was suggested that the new Chancellor could exploit this possibility for raising revenue, while keeping to the letter of Labour's manifesto promises, by extending the freeze for another two years. In the event, she declared that the inflation-linked increases to the main bands and allowances, which applied in most years before 2022/23, will resume for 2028/29 and later years. However, many more people will move into higher rates in the intervening three and a half years.

High-Income Child Benefit Charge (HICBC)

The HICBC continues to apply to the higher earner of a couple where one receives Child Benefit and either of them has income of more than a set threshold. For 2024/25 the threshold is £60,000; the band of income over which the clawback is calculated is £20,000 (1% of the total benefit for every £200 of income), so that the whole benefit is lost when income reaches £80,000. The HICBC is one reason an individual might have to register for self-assessment and file a tax return.

In March, Chancellor Jeremy Hunt announced plans to reform the HICBC from April 2026 to take into account the combined income of the household, rather than just the higher earner. This would reduce the unfairness of clawing back nothing from a couple each earning £59,000, compared to full clawback where one of the couple earns £80,000. Chancellor Rachel Reeves has decided not to proceed with this plan. The charge will therefore remain dependent on the income of the higher earner of the couple.

Scottish and Welsh rates - 2025/26 (Table A)

The Scottish government has the power to set its own income tax rates for Scottish taxpayers for non-savings, non-dividend income. Many Scottish taxpayers now pay at higher rates of income tax than those elsewhere in the UK, although some low earners pay less. The Scottish Budget, which will confirm the rates for 2025/26, will take place on 4 December 2024.

The Welsh government has similar powers for Welsh taxpayers but has not yet varied the main UK rates. The draft Welsh Budget will be published on 10 December 2024 and will be finalised by 25 February 2025.

Dividend income

The dividend allowance exempts some dividend income from tax, although that income still counts towards the higher rate thresholds. For 2025/26, the allowance is unchanged at £500. As HMRC does not routinely receive information about dividends received by taxpayers, more people may have to file tax returns to declare tax liabilities which previously would have been covered by the allowance (which was £2,000 up to 2022/23).

The tax rates on dividend income over £500 remain unchanged. The ordinary rate, paid by basic rate taxpayers, is 8.75%, the upper rate is 33.75%, and the additional rate is 39.35%. These rates apply across the UK.

The 33.75% rate also applies to tax payable by close companies (broadly, those under the control of five or fewer shareholders) on 'loans to participators' that are not repaid to the company within 9 months of the end of the accounting period.

Recent reductions in the dividend allowance and increases in the tax rates on dividends and capital gains add to the relative attractiveness of holding shares in a tax-free ISA or in a Venture Capital Trust (VCT). Dividends arising in an ISA or a qualifying VCT are not taxed and do not count towards the allowance.



Savings income

The savings allowance remains £1,000 for basic rate taxpayers, £500 for 40% taxpayers and nil for 45% taxpayers. People with savings income above these limits may have to declare it in order to pay tax.

The savings rate band remains at £5,000. Non-savings income is treated as the 'first slice' of income, using the tax-free allowance and the savings rate band; if any of the £5,000 band is not used by this 'slice', any savings income falling within that band is taxed at 0%.

SAVINGS AND PENSIONS

Individual Savings Accounts (ISA)

The investment limits for ISA have not changed since 2017/18: they are £20,000 for a standard adult ISA (within which £4,000 may be in a Lifetime ISA), and £9,000 for a Junior ISA or Child Trust Fund. These will now remain fixed until 5 April 2030.

Pension contributions (Table B)

In advance of the Budget, there was speculation that the Chancellor could raise significant tax revenues from pension schemes: she might restrict the tax relief on pension contributions or change the rules on drawing benefits, or impose Employer NIC on employer contributions to employees' funds. On the other hand, this could also have discouraged pension saving and could have been seen as a tax on 'working people'. In the event, she made no changes.

The maximum amount that can be withdrawn as a tax-free lump sum remains £268,275 unless the person is entitled to 'protection' in relation to the original introduction of the Lifetime Allowance or any of the subsequent reductions of the limit.

The only changes relating to pension funds were a specific change to the rules involving transfers of UK pension funds to other foreign arrangements, with effect from 30 October 2024, and the inclusion of unused funds and death benefits in the IHT estate on death from 6 April 2027, described in the IHT section below.

CORPORATION TAX

Rate of tax

The government has published a Corporation Tax Roadmap in which it is committed to capping the main rate at 25% and maintaining the small profits rate and thresholds, as well as key features such as full expensing, Annual Investment Allowance, Research & Development relief rates, and the Patent Box. This appears to be a commitment for the whole life of this Parliament.

The main rate of 25% applies to companies with profits over £250,000. The 'small profits rate' remains 19% for companies with profits of up to £50,000. Between £50,000 and £250,000 there is a tapering calculation that produces an effective marginal rate of 26.5% on profits between these limits, but an average rate on all profits of between 19% and 25%. The limits are divided between companies that have been under common control at any time in the previous 12 months, whether UK resident or not (subject to certain exceptions, such as dormant companies).



Capital allowances for plant and machinery

In 2023, 'full expensing' (100% relief for the cost in the year of purchase) was introduced for most plant and machinery. It is not currently available to companies that buy plant to lease out to other businesses. In March 2024, Jeremy Hunt announced that 'the government will seek to extend full expensing to leased assets when fiscal conditions allow'; the October 2024 Budget includes almost identical wording, but no specific date.

The government will extend for a further year the 100% first year allowances for qualifying expenditure on zero-emission cars and plant and machinery for electric vehicle charge points. These will continue to be available to 31 March 2026 for corporation tax and 5 April 2026 for income tax.

VALUE ADDED TAX

Registration threshold

The VAT registration and deregistration thresholds increased to £90,000 and £88,000 with effect from 1 April 2024. The March 2024 Budget stated that they will be again frozen at these new levels, but it does not say for how long. No further details have been given in October.

Private school fees

Labour made a manifesto pledge to charge VAT on private school fees; it was expected, up to the election, that this would take effect in September 2025, at the beginning of an academic year. However, at the end of July it was announced that the charge would apply from the beginning of January 2025. People running schools and professional bodies have protested that this imposes a very tight timescale on the implementation of a complex set of rules on a group of businesses that have never previously had to be concerned with VAT; nevertheless, the Chancellor has confirmed that the new rules will not be delayed.

Every private school should be taking advice on how to deal with VAT. The boundaries between what is chargeable and what remains exempt are not straightforward; the rules on the recovery of input tax on expenditure are particularly difficult for 'partially exempt' businesses; and the school has to make sure it has registered with HMRC at the right time, and has the systems in place to record and account for the unfamiliar tax correctly.

Private hire vehicles

The VAT treatment of private hire vehicles has been thrown into doubt by several court decisions. The government ran a consultation in 2024 to understand the impact of the decision and is considering the responses. In the meantime, further tax cases are due to be heard in the tax tribunals. Anyone running a taxi firm should pay close attention to the outcomes.

PROPERTY TAXATION

Higher Rates on Additional Dwellings (HRAD)

HRAD is a surcharge on the normal rates of Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT) that applies to the purchase of a residential property for more than £40,000 by someone who already owns an interest in such a



property, unless they are replacing their main residence. From 31 October 2024, the surcharge increases from 3% to 5%. For example, at present there is no SDLT on the purchase of a single dwelling for up to £250,000, but if the purchaser already has an interest in a dwelling, the HRAD applies to make the charge 5%.

Where someone buys a new home before they have sold their existing residence, it is possible to claim the surcharge back if the sale of the old house is completed within 3 years (as long as that leaves the individual with only one dwelling).

Rate of SDLT

A temporary reduction in the normal SDLT rates expires on 31 March 2025. Up to that date, the first £250,000 is charged at nil; from 1 April 2025, the band from £125,001 to £250,000 will once again be charged at 2%. There is also a reduction in the thresholds for first-time buyer relief: from 1 April 2026, the nil rate will apply to the first £300,000 of a property costing up to £500,000, down from the first £425,000 of a property costing up to £625,000.

The higher rate of SDLT that applies to certain purchases of residential property costing over £500,000 by companies increases from 15% to 17% on 31 October 2024.

Annual Tax on Enveloped Dwellings (ATED)

ATED applies to residential property worth above £500,000 that is owned through companies and other corporate structures, unless the situation qualifies for a relief. The rates increase automatically each year with inflation and will rise by 1.7% from 1 April 2025, in line with the September 2024 Consumer Prices Index.

Furnished holiday lettings (FHL)

The March 2024 Budget announced that the tax-advantaged treatment of FHL will be abolished from 6 April 2025. Anyone who has benefited from this treatment up to now, and who has not yet taken advice about the consequences of the change, should do so as soon as possible.

OTHER MEASURES

Making Tax Digital for Income Tax Self-Assessment (MTD)

The requirement to file tax returns using MTD is due to come into effect from 6 April 2026. Those initially affected by the rules will be those with annual income from a sole trader business or property, or both together, of £50,000. This will drop to £30,000 from 6 April 2027. The Budget includes the announcement that the government is committed to delivering MTD, and will expand the rollout to those with incomes over £20,000 by the end of the Parliament. Anyone who will be affected by these rules should make sure they are ready to comply with them in good time: understanding the requirements and making sure that it is possible to comply with them is not something that should be done at the last minute.

Compliance and debt management

The Budget includes spending on 5,000 additional HMRC compliance staff and 1,800 additional debt management staff. This is described as an 'investment' of £1.662 billion over the next five years that will



raise £4.7 billion per year by 2029/30. The Chancellor described this in her speech as making sure that people pay the tax that they already owe.

Umbrella companies

To tackle the significant levels of tax avoidance and fraud in the umbrella company market, the government will make recruitment agencies responsible for accounting for PAYE on payments made to workers that are supplied via umbrella companies. Where there is no agency, this responsibility will fall to the end-client business. This will take effect from 6 April 2026.

Fuel duty

The March Budget assumed that the 5p cut in fuel duty and the three-year freeze in duty rates would end in March 2025. The Chancellor decided to maintain the freeze for another year, and to retain the 5p cut until 22 March 2026. This represents a tax cut of over £3 billion, by far the largest 'giveaway' in this Budget.

National Living Wage (NLW)

From 1 April 2025, the NLW will apply for those aged 21 or over will rise from £11.44 per hour to £12.21, considerably above the rate of inflation. There are also increases to the rates that apply to workers aged 18 to 20 (£10) and under 18s and apprentices (£7.55).

Interest on late paid tax

HMRC currently charge interest at 7.5% on tax that is paid late, and credit a taxpayer with 4% on repayments of tax. These rates rise and fall with the Bank of England base rate, and the 'turn' of 3.5% is built into the calculation. The Budget includes an announcement that the rate on late payments will increase by 1.5 percentage points from 6 April 2025. This appears to be a straightforward increase in HMRC's turn to 5%.



INCOME TAX RATES AND ALLOWANCES

Income Tax Rates and Allowances (Table A)

| Main allowances | 2025/26 | 2024/25 |
|---------------------------|---------|---------|
| Personal Allowance (PA)*† | £12,570 | £12,570 |
| Blind Person's Allowance | 3,130 | 3,070 |
| Rent a room relief § | 7,500 | 7,500 |
| Trading income § | 1,000 | 1,000 |
| Property income § | 1,000 | 1,000 |

^{*}PA will be withdrawn at £1 for every £2 by which 'adjusted income' exceeds £100,000. There will therefore be no allowance given if adjusted income is £125,140 or more.

†£1,260 of the PA can be transferred to a spouse or civil partner who is no more than a basic rate taxpayer, where both spouses were born after 5 April 1935.

§ If gross income exceeds this, the limit may be deducted instead of actual expenses.

| Rate Bands | 2025/26 | 2024/25 | | |
|----------------------------------|----------------|----------------|--|--|
| Basic Rate Band (BRB) | £37,700 | £37,700 | | |
| Higher Rate Band (HRB) | 37,701-125,140 | 37,701-125,140 | | |
| Additional Rate (AR) | over 125,140 | over 125,140 | | |
| Personal Savings Allowance (PSA) | | | | |
| - Basic rate taxpayer | 1,000 | 1,000 | | |
| - Higher rate taxpayer | 500 | 500 | | |
| Dividend Allowance (DA) | 500 | 500 | | |

BRB and AR threshold are increased by allowable personal pension contributions and Gift Aid donations.

| Rate Bands | | | 2025/26 | | | 2024/25 |
|---|------------|-------------|-----------|----|----|---------|
| Rates differ for General, Savings and Divid | dend incom | e within ea | ach band: | | | |
| | G | S | D | G | S | D |
| | % | % | % | % | % | % |
| Basic | 20 | 20 | 8.75 | 20 | 20 | 8.75 |
| Higher | 40 | 40 | 33.75 | 40 | 40 | 33.75 |
| Additional | 45 | 45 | 39.35 | 45 | 45 | 39.35 |

General income (salary, pensions, business profits, rent) usually uses personal allowance, basic rate and higher rate bands before savings income (mainly interest). To the extent that savings income falls in the first £5,000 of the basic rate band, it is taxed at nil rather than 20%.

The PSA will tax interest at nil, where it would otherwise be taxable at 20% or 40%.



Dividends are normally taxed as the 'top slice' of income. The DA taxes the first £500 of dividend income at nil, rather than the rate that would otherwise apply.

High Income Child Benefit Charge (HICBC)

1% of child benefit for each £200 of adjusted net income between £60,000 and £80,000.

| Income tax - Scotland | | 2024/25 | |
|-----------------------|------|------------------|--|
| | Rate | Band | |
| Starter Rate | 19% | £2,306 | |
| Basic Rate | 20% | 2,307 – 13,991 | |
| Intermediate Rate | 21% | 13,992 – 31,092 | |
| Higher Rate | 42% | 31,093 - 62,430 | |
| Advanced Rate | 45% | 62,431 – 125,140 | |
| Top Rate | 48% | over 125,140 | |

The Scottish rates and bands do not apply for savings and dividend income, which are taxed at normal UK rates. The Scottish rates for 2025/26 have not yet been announced.

Registered Pensions (Table B)

| | 2025/26 | 2024/25 |
|-----------------------|---------|---------|
| Annual Allowance (AA) | £60,000 | £60,000 |

Annual relievable pension inputs are the higher of earnings (capped at AA) or £3,600.

The AA is usually reduced by £1 for every £2 by which relevant income exceeds £260,000, down to a minimum AA of £10,000.

The AA can also be reduced to £10,000, where certain pension drawings have been made.

The maximum tax-free pension lump sum is £268,275 (25% of £1,073,100), unless a higher amount is "protected".

Car and Fuel Benefits (Table C)

Cars

Taxable benefit: List price multiplied by chargeable percentage.

| CO2 emissions g/km | Electric range Miles | | All cars | 2024/25 % |
|--------------------|-------------------------|---|----------|--------------|
| 0 | N/A | 3 | | 2 |
| 1-50 | >130 | 3 | | 2 |
| 1-50 | 70 - 129 | 6 | | 5 |
| 1-50 | 40 - 69 | 9 | | 8 |



| CO2 emissions g/km | Electric range Miles | 2025/26 % | All cars | 2024/25 % |
|--------------------|-------------------------|--------------|----------|--------------|
| 1-50 | 30 - 39 | 13 | | 12 |
| 1-50 | <30 | 15 | | 14 |
| 51-54 | N/A | 16 | | 15 |

Then a further 1% for each 5g/km CO2 emissions, up to a maximum of 37%.

Diesel cars that are not RDE2 standard suffer a 4% supplement on the above figures but are still capped at 37%.

Car Fuel

Where employer provides fuel for private motoring in an employer-owned car, CO2-based percentage from above table multiplied by £28,200.



NATIONAL INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS

National Insurance Contributions 2025/26 (Table D)

| Class 1 (Employees) | Employee | Employer |
|--|----------|----------|
| Main NIC rate | 8% | 15% |
| No NIC on first | £242pw | £96pw |
| Main rate charged up to* | £967pw | no limit |
| 2% rate on earnings above | £967pw | N/A |
| Employment allowance per qualifying business | N/A | £10,500 |

^{*}Nil rate of employer NIC on earnings up to £967pw for employees aged under 21, apprentices aged under 25 and ex-armed forces personnel in their first twelve months of civilian employment.

Employer contributions (at 15%) are also due on most taxable benefits (Class 1A) and on tax paid on an employee's behalf under a PAYE settlement agreement (Class 1B).

Class 2 (Self-employed)

On profits over £50,270

| Flat rate per week if profits below £6,845 (voluntary) | £3.50 |
|--|--------|
| Class 3 (Voluntary) | |
| Flat rate per week | £17.75 |
| Class 4 (Self-employed) | |
| On profits £12,570 – £50,270 | 6% |
| | |

Employees with earnings above £125pw and the self-employed with annual profits over £6,845 (or who pay voluntary Class 2 contributions) can access entitlement to contributory benefits.



2%

CONTACT

+44 (0)1204 527451 consult@barlow-andrews.co.uk

Barlow Andrews 78 Chorley New Road, Bolton, BL1 4BY

